
 

 

 

 

 

IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF LANCASTER COUNTY, NEBRASKA 

 

STATE OF NEBRASKA, ex rel.  

DOUGLAS J. PETERSON, ATTORNEY 

GENERAL, 

 

Plaintiff, 

 

v. 

 

CELEBRITY HOMES, INC., 

 

Defendant.  

 

  

 

Case No: CI 20 - _______ 

 

 

 

COMPLAINT 
 

 

 

 

 

 

COMES NOW, the State of Nebraska, ex rel. Douglas J. Peterson, Nebraska Attorney 

General, by and through the undersigned Assistant Attorney General (hereinafter "Attorney 

General", "State", or "Plaintiff"), and brings this action against Defendant Celebrity Homes, Inc. 

(hereinafter "Defendant") for violating the Consumer Protection Act, Neb. Rev. Stat. § 59-1601 et 

seq. (hereinafter "Consumer Protection Act" or "CPA") by engaging in conduct prohibited under 

the Consumer Review Fairness Act of 2016, 15 U.S.C. § 45b (hereinafter "Consumer Review 

Fairness Act" or "CRFA"). 

INTRODUCTION 

1. The Attorney General brings this action pursuant to the Consumer Protection Act 

to protect the public and pursuant to his statutory and common law authority, powers, and duties. 
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2. The Attorney General has cause to believe that Defendant has violated the 

Consumer Protection Act by engaging in conduct prohibited under the Consumer Review Fairness 

Act. 

PARTIES 

3. Plaintiff is the State of Nebraska, ex rel. Douglas J. Peterson, Nebraska Attorney 

General.  Pursuant to Neb. Rev. Stat. § 59-1608 of the CPA, the Attorney General may initiate 

civil law enforcement proceedings in the name of the State to enjoin violations of the CPA and 

secure such equitable and other relief as may be appropriate in each case.  

4. Defendant, Celebrity Homes, Inc., is a Nebraska corporation with its principal place 

of business at 1809 S. 189th Street, Omaha, NE 68130.  At all times relevant hereto, Defendant 

was and continues to engage in trade or commerce in the state of Nebraska by offering and selling 

custom homes both within Nebraska and to Nebraska consumers. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

5. The District Court of Lancaster County has jurisdiction over Defendant and the 

subject matter of this action pursuant to Neb. Rev. Stat. § 59-1608 because Defendant has 

transacted business within the State of Nebraska at all times relevant to this Complaint. 

6. Venue for this action properly lies in the District Court of Lancaster County 

pursuant to Neb. Rev. Stat. § 59-1608.01. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

7. The Consumer Protection Act, Neb. Rev. Stat. § 59-1602, prohibits “[u]nfair 

methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any trade or 

commerce.” 
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8. The Consumer Review Fairness Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45b, was enacted on December 

14, 2016.   

9. As of March 14, 2017, Section 2(b) of the CRFA renders void, and Section 2(c) of 

the CRFA prohibits the offering of, form contracts containing a provision that: prohibits or restricts 

individual consumers’ ability to communicate reviews, performance assessments, and similar 

analysis about a seller’s goods, services, or conduct; or that imposes a penalty or fee against 

individual consumers who engage in such communications.  15 U.S.C. §§ 45b(a)(2), 45b(b)(1), 

45b(c), and 45b(i)(1).  

10. Congress empowered the FTC and the states to enforce the CRFA with respect to 

contracts in effect on or after December 14, 2017.  15 U.S.C. § 45b(i)(2).  

11. A violation of Section 2(c) of the CRFA is an unfair trade practice. 15 U.S.C. 

§§ 45b(c) and 45b(d)(1). 

12. The instant action was commenced following an investigation of Defendant by the 

Attorney General regarding Defendant's inclusion of certain review-limiting provisions in 

consumer contracts. 

13. Defendant has offered, in the course of selling and constructing custom homes, 

form contracts to prospective customers that contained the following provision in the 

"LIMITATION OF CLAIMS / WAIVER OF SOCIAL MEDIA COMPLAINTS" paragraph: 

All parties further agree to waive any right whatsoever to post 

complaints, derogatory narratives, uncomplimentary descriptions or 

otherwise on any social media or internet platform such as 

Facebook, Yelp, BBB, etc. and the parties further agree this 

provision is a material term. This provision shall survive closing. 

14. Attached as Exhibit A is an exemplar of Defendant's form contract, entitled 

"Purchase Agreement" (with the purchaser's personal information redacted), that contains the 
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aforementioned “LIMITATION OF CLAIMS / WAIVER OF SOCIAL MEDIA COMPLAINTS” 

paragraph. 

15. Defendant began offering this form contract in March 2018.  

16. Defendant included the aforementioned “LIMITATION OF CLAIMS / WAIVER 

OF SOCIAL MEDIA COMPLAINTS” paragraph in at least 768 contracts since March 2018. 

COUNT I: 

VIOLATIONS OF THE CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT, 

NEB. REV. STAT. § 59-1601 ET SEQ. 

17. The State re-alleges and incorporates by reference all of the factual allegations 

contained in the preceding paragraphs, as though fully set forth herein. 

18. An unfair trade practice is one that either (1) is immoral, unethical, oppressive, or 

unscrupulous, or (2) falls within some common law, statutory, or other established concept of 

unfairness. 

19. In numerous instances, as described in Paragraphs 13-16 of this Complaint, 

Defendant offered, in the course of selling its goods or services, form contracts that contained a 

provision barring or restricting the ability of consumers purchasing Defendant's custom homes 

from engaging in reviews, performance assessments, and similar analysis of Defendant's goods, 

services, or conduct. 

20. As described above and without limitation, Defendant's acts or practices violate 

Section 2(c) of the CRFA, 15 U.S.C. § 45b(c), and are therefore unfair trade practices.  

21. As described above and without limitation, Defendant’s acts or practices constitute 

unfair acts or practices in the conduct of any trade or commerce in violation of Neb. Rev. Stat. 

§ 59-1602.   
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22. Each and every contract offered by Defendant containing a provision that bars or 

restricts the ability of a consumer to engage in reviews, performance assessments, and similar 

analysis of Defendant's goods, services or conduct constitutes a separate and independent violation 

of the Consumer Protection Act. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, the State respectfully requests this Court: 

A. Permanently enjoin Defendant, its agents, employees, and all other persons and 

entities, corporate or otherwise, in active concert or participation with Defendant, pursuant to Neb. 

Rev. Stat. § 59-1608, from engaging in conduct described in this Complaint to be in violation of 

the Consumer Protection Act; 

B. Permanently enjoin Defendant, its agents, employees, and all other persons and 

entities, corporate or otherwise, in active concert or participation with Defendant, pursuant to Neb. 

Rev. Stat. § 59-1608, from violating the Consumer Protection Act and any amendments thereto; 

C. Grant such relief as the Court finds necessary to redress injury to consumers 

resulting from Defendant’s violations of the CPA, including but not limited to, rescission or 

reformation of contracts, restitution, the refund of monies paid, and the disgorgement of ill-gotten 

monies; 

D. Order Defendant to pay the State a civil penalty in the amount of two thousand 

($2,000.00) dollars per violation, pursuant Neb. Rev. Stat. § 59-1614, for each and every violation 

of the Consumer Protection Act; 

E. Order Defendant to pay the State’s costs and attorneys fees in this matter, pursuant 

to Neb. Rev. Stat. § 59-1608; and 

A. Grant such further relief as the Court may deem just and appropriate. 
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Respectfully submitted this 17th day of September, 2020. 

BY: Douglas J. Peterson, #18146 

Attorney General of Nebraska 

BY:   /s/ Michaela J. Lutz 

Michaela J. Lutz, #26826 

Assistant Attorney General 

Office of the Nebraska Attorney General 

2115 State Capitol 

Lincoln, NE 68509-8920 

(402) 471-1928

michaela.lutz@nebraska.gov

Counsel for Plaintiff 
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